IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2006-CA-00707

SHERRY SCALES

APPELLANT

VS.

LACKEY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SCOTT COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael P. Younger Mississippi Bar No. Younger Law Firm 1700 W. Government St. Bldg. B, Ste. 102 Brandon, MS 39042 Telephone: (601) 825-5412

Fax: (601) 825-3949 Attorney for Appellant

Oral Argument is Requested

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2006-CA-00707

SHERRY SCALES

APPELLANT

VS.

LACKEY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE APPELLEE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

CASE

On April 22, 2003, the Appellee filed suit in the Circuit Court of Scott County,

Mississippi against Lackey Memorial Hospital alleging negligence in failing to diagnose a heart

attack in process and for failure to use the applicable standard of care in her treatment.

Ms. Scales went to the emergency room at Lackey Memorial Hospital on the 17th day of January, 2002 and was admitted to the emergency room suffering from extreme chest pains.

The mother and brother of the Appellant were present in the emergency room and relayed to the hospital a detailed history of heart trouble within Sherry Scales' family.

Many uncles and cousins in the family had died within their thirties and forties with severe heart trouble and Ms. Scales was experiencing extreme pain.

After begging the on-call doctor for some Nitroglycerin, which Ms. Scales' father had used for his heart, they finally gave Ms. Scales Nitroglycerin and the pain subsided.

After a while the pain returned and the emergency room staff failed to recognize and diagnose this as a heart attack in progress.

Later that same evening, Ms. Scales had to be transported to the Baptist Medical Center and then the next day underwent triple by-pass surgery after having suffered a heart attack.

For a long period of time, after the suit was filed, it was uncertain to the undersigned who the attorney of record was for the hospital itself. Honorable Bruce Smith of Mendenhall, Mississippi had contacted the undersigned and stated that he was the attorney for the hospital and he was unsure whether there was insurance coverage or not and this situation rocked on for many months.

It is important to note at this juncture, for later reference, that during the 2004-2005

period the undersigned had severe health problems and had undergone five surgeries in thirteen months.

Page, Kruger, & Holland was hired to represent the hospital and filed an answer and propounded some limited discovery, being one set of interrogatories directed to the Appellant.

During the course of answering the discovery, the Appellant's brother and mother and the Appellant herself executed sworn affidavits furnished to Lackey's counsel indicating the events that unfolded on the night of the heart attack and many offers were extended for their depositions to be taken by the attorney for the Appellee.

The treating physicians were listed in the answers to the interrogatories and said interrogatories were later supplemented to include another expert witness who is licensed to practice medicine in Mississippi, who practices in Birmingham, Alabama.

Counsel for the Appellee never noticed any of the persons listed in the answers to interrogatories for depositions and subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment.

After a hearing on the motion for summary judgment, the trial court granted same as will be stated more particularly in the statement of the facts.

This appeal is taken to challenge the granting of the summary judgment due to the limited amount of discovery that had gone on in the case at the time the motion for summary judgment was heard.

On the 22nd day of April, 2003 the Appellant filed a complaint in the Circuit Court of Scott County, Mississippi accusing the Appellee, Lackey Memorial Hospital of medical malpractice and negligence. (T.2)

On October 23, 2003 and answer and affirmative defenses were filed on behalf of the Appellee by the law firm of Page, Kruger & Holland. (T.9-12)

As is evident by the excessive amount of time between the filing of the complaint and the filing of the answer, it is important to note that there were other issues involved during this time period involving insurance coverage and who would be counsel for the Appellee.

Initially, after the complaint was served, the undersigned was contacted by Honorable Bruce Smith who was the attorney for the Appellee. A considerable amount of time, several months, passed before there was an issue as to whether there was or was not insurance coverage and whether or not Mr. Smith would be the one who would be handling the defense of the case.

The undersigned did not press the issue or request an answer believing in good faith that these issues would be resolved and the litigation could move forward.

Eventually, interrogatories were propounded from the Appellee to the Appellant and said interrogatories were answered on the 24th day of November, 2003. (T.Vol.1 Supplemental)
(R.E.39)

The court should bear in mind that by the time these interrogatories had been answered, sworn affidavits had been furnished to counsel opposite from Dovis Goodwin, Tim Goodwin, and Sherry Scales detailing the events of the night in question involving the heart attack. Also, prior to this discovery being answered, offers were made to let those three individuals be deposed as well as the treating physicians.

In the response to the interrogatories, the Appellant gave the history that she had previously placed in her sworn affidavit, specifically interrogatory number 18. The Appellant was asked to identify every doctor or medical provider who has treated the Appellant for injuries received as a result of the incident and the interrogatories listed Dr. George Reynolds and Dr. Steve Hindman, both of whom had treated the Appellant.

It is important to note again that these doctors were never deposed by the Appellee

although offers were extended for said depositions to be taken.

In response to interrogatory number 22, the response was that the mother, brother and Appellant will be testifying as well as George Reynolds and Steve Hindman and possibly the medical staff at Lackey Memorial Hospital on the date in question.

By the time these interrogatories were answered, there was ample time to depose both of the doctors who were occurrence witnesses and also potential expert witnesses in order to discover their opinions and their course of treatment for Ms. Scales.

On the 19th day of October, 2005, almost two years after the interrogatories had been answered, the Appellee filed a motion for summary judgment. (T.19-21) (R.E. 18-20)

Again, it is important to note the length of time that transpired from the time of the answering of the interrogatories until the motion for summary judgment was filed. Other than the interrogatories, no discovery had been conducted in two years on behalf of the Appellee, and as will be pointed out later, this was the period of time when the undersigned was undergoing some severe health problems that necessitated five surgeries in thirteen months.

On February 9, 2006 the undersigned filed a response to the motion for summary judgment. (T.32-33) (R.E. 21-22)

In the response on behalf of the Appellant to the motion for summary judgment the undersigned stated in paragraph number 5 that "summary judgment would be premature because none of the experts listed or designated by the Plaintiff had been deposed, nor had any of the occurrence witnesses been deposed."

Also, on the same day as the response to motion for summary judgment the Appellant sent supplemental answers to interrogatories which were attached as an exhibit to the response. (T.35-38) (R.E. 23)

In the supplemental answers to interrogatories, it was disclosed that George Reynolds and Steve Hindman were the treating physicians of the Appellant and that they had become the physicians for Ms. Scales beginning the night of her heart attack.

Also, Dr. Donald H. Marks was designated as an expert witness. Dr. Marks is a medical doctor who examined the medical records of Ms. Scales as well as sworn affidavits submitted by the Appellant, her mother and brother and based on the examination in the medical records he formulated an opinion that the hospital failed to use ordinary care and skill in treatment of Ms. Scales.

In arguing the summary judgment motion in the lower court, the undersigned argued all of the points that had been raised in the response as well as informing the Court of the health situation of the undersigned during the time frame of this litigation. (T. Vol.2 13-19) (R.E. 26-32)

On March 27, 2006 the Court issued an order sustaining the motion for summary judgment. (T.39-46) (R.E. 1-8) Most notably in the opinion of the lower court judge (T.45) he recites:

"Plaintiff's counsel, in his letter memorandum dated 03/08/06 relates in detail personal health problems as well as disorganization of his law practice because of Hurricane Katrina. While the Court notes these problems and would struggle mightily to give broad deference to counsel because of these uncontrollable events, yet, examining all of this within the time from of the filing of this cause (04/22/03) and the date of said hurricane 08/28/05, the Court is not persuaded those misfortunes should now be controlling."

It is important to note that the undersigned did have multiple health problems during this time frame; however, there was a large amount of time that was wasted or consumed by trying to find out who the legal counsel was going to be as well as whether there was or was not insurance that would cover this type of claim.

During all of the period of time from the filing of the Complaint to the date of the motion for summary judgment, other than the interrogatories propounded to the Appellant, no other discovery was propounded by the Appellee or its counsel.

The undersigned had sent sworn statements of the occurrence witnesses and had listed the treating physicians who also would have been doubling as expert witnesses; however, no effort was made on the part of the Appellee to conduct the discovery in order to formulate their defense.

The lower court judge, basically in his opinion, stated that the defense would be prejudiced by lack of information from the Plaintiff.

The undersigned would purport that the failure of the Appellee to conduct discovery to all of the witnesses that had been furnished to the hospital created the situation that Judge Cotten blamed the Appellant for.

In other words, any alleged lack of information furnished or not furnished to the defense was blamed on the Appellant rather than the lack of due diligence on the part of the defense.

From this order sustaining motion for summary judgment we would appeal.

ARGUMENT

The undersigned would argue that the lower court's ruling granting summary judgment was erroneous and contrary to all legal principles involving summary judgments.

ISSUE ONE

THE LOWER COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN AWARDING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE APPELLEE.

Summary judgment is proper if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

(Miss.R.Civ.P. 56(c))

A party is not entitled to summary judgment by default just because the non-movant has not filed counter affidavits and documents in opposition to the motion for summary judgment.

<u>Allen v. Mayer</u>, 587 So.2d 255 (Miss. 1991)

The <u>Allen</u> case also states that if any document before the Court presents a material factual issue, the granting of summary judgment is improper.

Material issues of fact are those which effect the outcome of the case. <u>Prescott v. Leaf</u>

<u>River Forest Products, Inc.</u>, 747 So.2d 301 (Miss. 1999), <u>Shaw v. Birkfield</u>, 481 So.2d 247

(Miss. 1985).

The <u>Shaw</u> case also states the Court must be convinced that the facts in issue are a material and that matter in the outcome of the determination of the case.

The Court should deny the summary judgment motion if there is any doubt about whether a genuine issue of material fact exists or the record is incomplete in regard to a material matter.

Prescott v. Leaf River Forest Products, Inc., 747 So.2d 301 (Miss. 1999).

A party establishes that a dispute on a material issue is genuine if there is sufficient evidence on that issue for a jury to find in favor of the party. Circumstantial evidence will be sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact. <u>Leflore County v. Givens</u>, 754 So.2d 1223 (Miss. 2000)

A defendant needs to come forward with some proof that the plaintiff cannot prove the central element of a prima facie case. <u>Hurnandez v. Vickery Chevrolet</u>, 652 So.2d 179 (Miss. 1995)

In the case at bar with the lack of discovery conducted in this case, the motion for summary judgment and the granting of same were very premature since the defendant, other than issuing a set of interrogatories, had done no other discovery with the witnesses that had been listed in the interrogatory answer.

Given this fact, the undersigned does not believe that the lower court could have been put in the position to determine that the plaintiff could not establish or have insufficient proof to establish a genuine issue of material fact.

A party need not file affidavits in support of or in opposition to a summary judgment.

Miss.R.Civ.P. 56(a)

The Mississippi Supreme Court in Marx v. Truck Renting and Leasing Assn., Inc., 527 So.2d 1333 (Miss. 1987) set forth the following directive.

"The Court at its discretion may, if it finds the reasons offered to be sufficient, postpone consideration of the motion for summary judgment and order among other things that discovery be completed. The rule, (Miss.R.Civ.P 56(f)) contemplates that the completion of discovery is in some instances desirable before the Court can determine whether there is a genuine issue of material fact, however, the party requesting summary judgment must request specific facts why he cannot oppose the motion and must specifically demonstrate how postponement of the ruling on the motion will enable him, by discovery or other means, to rebut the movant showing of the absence of a genuine issue of fact."

In the case at bar the lack of discovery propounded by the Appellee to the Appellant,

which the Appellant has no control over, should have signaled the lower court judge that in the interest of justice a continuance or additional discovery should have been ordered.

Even though the party opposing the summary judgment motion has not formally complied with Rule 56(f) by filing an affidavit in support of a request for continuance, the Court properly grants a continuance when the party has been diligent and acted in good faith. Owens v. Tomae, 759 So.2d 1117 (Miss. 1999)

In the case at bar, there was a long delay between the time of the filing of the complaint and the motion for summary judgment argument due to several factors.

There was a long delay to determine who was going to be the attorney for the hospital and whether the hospital had insurance coverage or not.

Then there was a long period of delay due to the health issues involving the undersigned that had been pointed out in the record.

Also, there was a long period of delay in that the Appellee would conduct no discovery although names and sworn affidavits had been furnished to the Appellee outlining the facts and issues in the case.

CONCLUSION

It is proposed that the lower court erred in granting summary judgment. The undersigned would submit to this Court that summary judgment was premature due to the lack of discovery conducted by the Appellee and also due to the issues of the undersigned outlined in this brief.

It is respectfully submitted that this summary judgment should be reversed and this matter be placed back in the lower court for trial.