# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-CA-00707

**SHERRY SCALES** 

**APPELLANT** 

٧.

LACKEY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

APPELLEE

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SSCOTT COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI BRIEF OF APPELLEE LACKEY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Louis G. Baine, III MSB#
Jan F. Gadow MSB#
PAGE, KRUGER & HOLLAND, P.A.
10 Canebrake Blvd., Ste. 200
P.O. Box 1163
Jackson, MS 39215
(601) 420-0333
(601) 420-0333 facsimile

Counsel for Appellee Lackey Memorial Hospital

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-CA-00707

**SHERRY SCALES** 

**APPELLANT** 

V.

LACKEY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

**APPELLEE**

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Lackey Memorial Hospital in this medical negligence action because the plaintiff Scales failed to provide any sworn expert testimony, which is required in order to prove professional negligence or to survive a motion for summary judgment in such a cause. Summary judgment is not premature despite that Scales' medical experts have not yet been deposed. Scales knew or should have known from the time she filed her complaint in April 2003 that expert testimony was required, yet she has to date failed to provide any competent evidence to support her allegations of medical negligence. Scales failed to provide any sworn medical expert testimony in response to Lackey Memorial's motion for summary judgment and failed to provide an affidavit stating the reasons she could not provide same, therefore she failed to establish the existence of a genuine issue of material fact. Given her failure to obtain sworn medical expert testimony for two and a half years, her failure to comply with M.R.C.P.56 cannot be excused. This Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Lackey Memorial Hospital.

#### IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Lower Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment in Favor of Lackey Memorial Hospital in this Medical Malpractice Action where Sherry Scales Failed to Provide Testimony of a Medical Expert Concerning Breach of the Applicable Standard of Care.

#### 1. Summary Judgment and Standard of Review

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56 provides that summary judgment may be entered by a trial court if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *Robinson v. Ratliff*, 757 So.2d 1098, 1100 (¶ 6) (Miss. App. 2000). Summary judgment is proper when there exists no genuine issue of material fact and the movant is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *Ellis v. Powe*, 645 So.2d 947, 950 (Miss.1994). However, not every factual issue will defeat a motion for summary judgment. To justify denial of a motion for summary judgment, there must be an issue of *material* fact, *i.e.*, a fact essential to the claim at issue. *Shaw v. Burchfield*, 481 So.2d 247, 252 (Miss. 1985); *Vickers v. Fires Mississippi Nat1 Bank*, 458 So.2d 1055, 1061 (Miss. 1984).

This Court reviews a grant of summary judgment *de novo*. *Gregory v. Central Sec. Life Ins. Co.*, 953 So. 2d 233, 238 (¶ 19)(Miss. 2007) (citations therein omitted). If, when viewed in the light most favorable to the non-movant, there is no genuine issue of material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment is proper. *Id.* A *de novo* review involves reviewing all evidentiary matters in the record, including affidavits, depositions, admissions, interrogatories, etc. *Montgomery v. Woolbright*, 904 So. 2d 1027, 1029 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2004) (citing *Saucier v. Biloxi Reg'l Med.* 

Ctr., 708 So. 2d 1351, 1354 (Miss. 1998) (citations therein omitted)). Where there is a complete failure of proof on any one of the essential elements of the nonmovant's claim, summary judgment is warranted. Galloway v. Travelers, 515 So. 2d 678, 683 (Miss. 1987). See also Montgomery, 904 So. 2d at 1029 (¶ 9).

When the allegations in the pleadings, as supported by the sworn evidence in the record, establish that one party is entitled to judgment in his favor because the record contains insufficient legal evidence to support the other party's claim or defense that is the subject of the motion, and there is no genuine dispute of the material sworn facts, summary judgment is proper. Comment, M.R.C.P. 56. Lackey Memorial maintains that summary judgment in its favor is proper because Scales did not provide any probative evidence (sworn expert testimony) in opposition to the motion for summary judgment.

# 2. To Survive Summary Judgment, Scales was Required to Produce Expert Testimony to Meet her Burden of Production.

Scales' complaint alleges medical negligence on the part of Lackey Memorial. Evidence sufficient to establish the elements of duty, breach, proximate cause, and damages is necessary to support Scales' claims. *Montgomery*, 904 So. 2d at 1029 (¶ 9) (citing *Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Ass'n*, 656 So. 2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1995)). This being a medical negligence action, in order to show the duty owed Scales must establish not only a doctor/patient relationship, but the content and details of the standard of care to which the defendant is held. *Walker v. Skiwski*, 529 So. 2d 184, 185 (Miss. 1988) (citing *Boyd v. Lynch*, 493 So. 2d 1315, 1318 (Miss. 1986); *Marshall v. The Clinic for Women, P.A.*, 490 So. 2d 861, 864-65 (Miss. 1986); *Hammond v. Grissom*, 470 So. 2d 1049, 1053 (Miss. 1985); *Ross v. Hodges*, 234 So. 2d 905, 909 (Miss. 1970)).

Regarding the elements of breach and proximate cause, Scales must establish that Lackey Memorial failed, in some particular respect, to conform to the applicable standard of medical care and that such failure was the proximate cause or a proximate contributing cause of the injuries. *McCaffrey v. Puckett*, 784 So. 2d 197, 203 (¶ 20) (Miss. 2001); *Walker*, 529 So. 2d at 185; *Hall v. Hilbun*, 466 So. 2d 856, 871, 873 (Miss. 1985); *Dazet v. Bass*, 254 So. 2d 183, 186-87 (Miss. 1971).

"[E]xpert testimony is required in order to prove professional negligence". Montgomery, 904 So. 2d at 1030 (¶ 13). Specifically, Scales must establish the duty or applicable standard of care, deviation therefrom, causation, and damages by expert proof. Partin v. North Mississippi Medical Center, 929 So. 2d 924, 929 (¶ 15) (Miss. App. 2005) (citing McCaffrey, 784 So. 2d at 206 (¶ 33). See also Potter v. Hopper, 907 So. 2d 376, 379-80 (¶10) (Miss. App. 2005) (citing *Phillips v. Hull,* 516 So. 2d 488, 491 (Miss. 1987)); Ekornes-Duncan v. Rankin Medical Center, 808 So. 2d 955, 958 (¶ 6)(Miss. 2002) (citations therein omitted); *Mallet v. Carter*, 803 So. 2d 504, 508 (¶ 11) (Miss. App. 2002) (citations therein omitted); Hill v. Warden, 796 So. 2d 276, 281 (¶ 17) (Miss. App. 2001); Paepke v. North Mississippi Medical Center, 744 So. 2d 809, 811 (¶ 9) (Miss. App. 1999); Palmer, 656 So. 2d at 794, 795; Barner v. Gorman, 605 So. 2d 805, 809 (Miss. 1992) (citations therein omitted); Walker v. Skiwski, 529 So.2d 184 (Miss. 1988); Phillips, 516 So. 2d at 491, overruled on other grounds by Whittington v. Mason, 905 So. 2d 1261 (Miss. 2005); Cole v. Wiggins, 487 So. 2d 203, 206 (Miss. 1986); Hall, 466 So. 2d at 874; Pittman v. Hodges, 462 So.2d 330 (Miss. 1984); Ross, 234 So. 2d at 909. Just as the plaintiff in a professional negligence action is required to provide expert testimony to prove the elements of his cause, he is likewise required to provide expert testimony to survive summary judgment. *Montgomery*, 904 So. 2d at 1030 (¶ 13) (citations therein omitted). *See also Maxwell v. Baptist Memorial Hospital-Desoto*, 958 So. 2d 284 (Miss. App. 2007); *Smith v. Gilmore*, 952 So. 2d 177 (Miss. 2007); *Griffin v. Pinson*, 952 So. 2d 963 (Miss. App. 2006); *McMichael v. Howell*, 919 So. 2d 18 (Miss. 2005).

#### a. Expert Testimony Must be Sworn

In order to survive a Motion for Summary Judgment, the plaintiff in a medical negligence action must offer *swom*, competent medical expert testimony articulating the content of the standard of care and opining that the defendant deviated from the appropriate standard of care, causing in whole or in part the damages claimed by the plaintiff. *Walker*, 529 So. 2d at 186, 187. *See also Partin*, 929 So. 2d at 929 (¶ 15) (citing *Daily v. Methodist Medical Center*, 790 So. 2d 903, 915-16 (¶ 15) (Miss. App. 2001)) (to survive summary judgment plaintiff must establish genuine issue of material fact with evidence by expert testimony or affidavit); *Potter*, 907 So. 2d at 380 (¶¶ 12, 13) (summary judgment for defendant affirmed because plaintiff failed to respond to motion for summary judgment with medical expert affidavit); *Paepke*, 744 So. 2d at 812-13 (¶ 14) (medical expert affidavit sufficient to survive summary judgment); *Palmer*, 656 So. 2d at 797 (medical expert depositions and affidavits sufficient to survive summary judgment); *Palmer*, 656 So. 2d at 797 (medical expert depositions and affidavits sufficient to survive summary judgment); *Walker*, 529 So. 2d at 186; *Phillips*, 516 So. 2d at 490, 491, overruled on other grounds by *Whittington v. Mason*, 905 So. 2d 1261 (Miss. 2005).

In Walker, this Court stated that the Walkers' opposition to Skiwski's motion for summary judgment is deficient because it is not based on personal knowledge and that the

law is clear in its requirement that the party opposing summary judgment must support his claims by facts sworn to on personal knowledge. But, further, the Court says of the Walkers' failure to provide the *swom* testimony of any of their five designated experts: "here lies the fatal deficiency in their opposition to summary judgment." *Walker*, 529 So. 2d at 187. The Court also identifies as the "critical inadequacy" in the Walkers' opposition to summary judgment their failure to provide evidence in a form that would be competent at trial, *i.e.*, sworn expert opinion evidence, to establish the applicable standard of care and that Dr. Skiwski had deviated therefrom. *Walker*, 529 So. 2d at 186. Scales' fatal deficiency, too, is that she failed to provide sworn expert opinion evidence to establish the elements of her claim and to support the allegations of her pleadings.

Scales' pleadings allege medical negligence as to Lackey Memorial, but it is undisputed that these allegations are not supported by any sworn evidence in the record concerning the duty/applicable standard of care, breach/deviation therefrom, causation, or damages. Allegations alone are insufficient legal evidence to support Scales' claim of medical negligence, therefore Lackey Memorial is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. M.R.C.P. 56 (b); *Montgomery*, 904 So. 2d at 1130 (¶ 13); *Walker*, 529 So. 2d at 186, 187.

As set forth above, Mississippi law has long provided that to meet his or her burden of proof in an action for medical negligence, a plaintiff must come forward with expert proof to support claims of malpractice. *Partin,* 929 So. 2d at 929 (¶ 15) (Miss. App. 2005) (citing *McCaffrey,* 784 So. 2d at 206 (¶ 33)). As this Court has previously commented, in a case of medical negligence in Mississippi, a plaintiff knows from the inception of the suit that sworn expert proof will be required to survive summary judgment:

From the very moment the suit was filed it [should have been] known that an expert witness would be needed to survive summary judgment, for it is our general rule that in a medical malpractice action negligence cannot be established without medical testimony that the defendant failed to use ordinary skill and care.

**Brooks v. Roberts,** 882 So. 2d 229, 232 (¶ 10) (Miss. 2004) (citing **Sheffield v. Goodwin,** 740 So. 2d 854, 858 (Miss. 1999)).

Thus, when Scales elected to file her claim of medical negligence against Lackey Memorial on April 22, 2003, she knew or should have known at that time that expert proof would be required. Lackey Memorial filed its answer and defenses and first served Scales with discovery in October 2003. (C.P. 9, 14) Scales responded to interrogatory 20 in November 2003, but simply provided the names of two doctors. (R. 4, Supp. Vol. p. 10, C.P. 32, 79) Two years after discovery was served and two and a half years after suit was initiated by Scales, Lackey Memorial filed its motion for summary judgment, citing the absence of any expert proof from Scales. This was the sole basis for Lackey Memorial's motion. (C.P. 19-21) As a result, Scales undeniably knew then that probative expert proof was required to meet her burden and to proceed with her lawsuit. The hearing on this motion was set and continued several times and was finally set for February 13, 2006. (C.P. 23, 26, 28, 30)

In response to Lackey Memorial's motion for summary judgment, the only evidence Scales offered is her supplemental answer to Interrogatory 20, which provides that Dr. Reynolds would testify that Scales suffered a massive heart attack and has required surgery and other treatment since that time and is totally disabled as a result of her medical condition. (C.P. 32, 35-36, 43) This supplemental response also identified for the first time

a Dr. Donald Marks and states that he would testify that Lackey Memorial failed to use ordinary skill and care in treating Scales and breached the standard of care. (C.P. 36-37, 44, 80, R. 5) This supplemental response, however, is not sworn to and is signed only by Scales' attorney. This evidence is clearly not sufficient to satisfy Scales' burden. *Brooks*, 882 So. 2d at 232 (¶ 10). The record is simply without competent evidence to support Scales' allegations of medical negligence and summary judgment in favor of Lackey Memorial is just. *Montgomery*, 904 So. 2de at 1030 (¶ 13) (citations therein omitted). See also *Maxwell*, 958 So. 2d 284 (Miss. App. 2007); *Smith*, 952 So. 2d 177 (Miss. 2007); *Griffin*, 952 So. 2d 963 (Miss. App. 2006); *McMichael*, 919 So. 2d 18 (Miss. 2005).

### b. Summary Judgment is not Premature

At the hearing on Lackey Memorial's motion for summary judgment, Scales argued that summary judgment was premature and that the motion should be stayed until her experts could be deposed. (T. 14-16) Scales' counsel admitted that he was responsible for the untimeliness of his filings and lack of discovery, including depositions of Scales' experts. (T. 16, 18) Counsel's reason for the delay was that he had suffered health problems that caused him to miss two or three months of work in 2005 and some of his family members had been displaced by Hurricane Katrina in August 2005. (T. 14, 16, 18) The trial court noted these reasons for delay, but also noted that Scales' complaint was filed more than two years before the stated reasons for delay occurred. (C.P. 45) On appeal, Scales still urges that summary judgment is premature. (Scales' brief, p. 10)

A plaintiff's failure to respond to discovery, to designate medical experts, and/or to provide medical expert affidavits until after the defendant has filed a motion for summary

judgment, without a showing of excusable neglect, is a discovery violation properly sanctioned by the trial court's denial of late expert designation (or request for same) or by striking any untimely affidavits. Bowie v. Montfort Jones Mem'l Hosp., 861 So. 2d 1037, 1042-43 (¶¶ 13-15)(Miss. 2003); *Ekornes-Duncan*, 808 So. 2d at 958-59 (¶¶ 7-11); Mallet, 803 So. 2d at 506, 507 (¶¶ 5, 7); Hill, 796 So. 2d at 281 (¶ 16). The usual result of such sanction is that the plaintiff is left with no medical expert testimony and the defendant's motion for summary judgment is, therefore, granted. Bowie, 861 So. 2d at 1043 (¶ 15); Ekornes-Duncan, 808 So. 2d at 958, 959 (¶¶ 8, 12); Hill, 796 So. 2d at 281 (¶ 17). Scales has failed to provide medical expert affidavits even after Lackey Memorial filed its motion for summary judgment and, in fact, Scales still has not provided any medical expert affidavits. Scales' failure to provide sworn medical testimony is properly sanctioned by the trial court's denial of additional time in which to conduct discovery, specifically depositions of Scales' experts. **Bowie**, 861 So. 2d at 1042-43 (¶¶ 13-15); **Ekornes-Duncan**, 808 So. 2d at 958-59 (¶¶ 7-11); **Mallet**, 803 So. 2d at 506, 507 (¶¶ 5, 7); Hill, 796 So. 2d at 281 (¶ 16). Without an extension of time to allow Scales to provide some sworn medical testimony, she was and is without any competent evidence in the record to support the allegations of her complaint. Because the trial court properly denied additional time for discovery, the grant of summary judgment in favor of Lackey Memorial is not premature. Scales knew or should have known, from the time she filed her complaint in April 2003, that expert proof would be required. *Brooks*, 882 So. 2d at 232 (¶ 10).

#### c. Affidavits are Required

Scales claims that she was not required to file an affidavit in opposition to Lackey Memorial's motion for summary judgment. (Scales' brief, p. 10) However, Rule 56 is unequivocal in that a party must respond to a motion for summary judgment by establishing a genuine issue for trial as provided by Rule 56, which does not include resting on the allegations or denial of his pleadings. M.R.C.P. 56 (e). That affidavits are required in response to a motion for summary judgment is made clear by Rule 56 itself: "Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such order as is just." M.R.C.P. 56 (f). Clearly, M.R.C.P. 56 requires sworn testimony in response to a motion for summary judgment in order to establish the existence of a genuine issue of material fact.

Mississippi case law is in accord. See Potter, 907 So. 2d at 380 (¶ 12) ("We affirm because Potter failed to respond to Dr. Hopper's motion for summary judgment with an affidavit, submitted by an expert . . . "); Palmer, 656 So. 2d at 797 ("The Palmers put on sufficient expert testimony [depositions and affidavits] . . ." to defeat summary judgment); Walker, 529 So. 2d at 186, 187 (party opposing summary judgment must oppose with facts sworn to on personal knowledge in depositions, answers to interrogatories, affidavits, stipulations, or admissions; evidence must be in a form that would be competent at trial, i.e., sworn; failure to supply sworn testimony of a designated expert is fatal deficiency in opposition to summary judgment). It is this requirement of sworn expert testimony that

prevents prosecution of medical negligence claims based solely on unsupported allegations. *Potter*, 907 So. 2d at 380 (¶ 13).

Scales knew or should have known, from the time she filed her complaint in April 2003, that expert proof would be required. *Brooks*, 882 So. 2d at 232 (¶ 10). Her failure to obtain same for two and a half years cannot be considered diligent, therefore her failure to comply with M.R.C.P. 56 must not be excused. *See Owens v. Tomae*, 759 So. 2d 1117, 1121 (¶ 17) (Miss. 1999).

In *Griffin*, this Court found that the plaintiff's responses to interrogatories did not create a fact issue as to the defendant physician's negligence as required for summary judgment. As it did in *Griffin*, this Court should find that:

in neglecting to provide the affidavit of a medical expert to support her medical malpractice claim, [Scales] failed to comply with Rule 56 (e) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. The anticipated expert opinion set forth by [Scales\*counsel] could not have been based on [] personal knowledge. Furthermore, [Scales] had more than adequate time to submit the affidavit of a medical expert.

Griffin, 952 So. 2d at 967 (¶ 11).

#### V. CONCLUSION

In the present case, Lackey Memorial's motion for summary judgment is based on Scales' failure to prove all requisite elements of medical negligence by sworn medical expert testimony, as required by law. Scales, therefore, bears the burden of production on the same issues she would have to prove at trial, to wit: duty, breach, proximate cause, and damages. "Sufficient" evidence of duty, breach, and proximate cause, in medical negligence cases including this one, requires sworn medical expert testimony. Scales failed to meet her burden of production in support of her claim and there is no genuine